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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
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VHDUFKHG�*UD\�WR�REWDLQ�KLV�LGHQWLILFDWLRQ��DQG�WXUQHG�RII�*UD\·V�FDPHUD�WR�

prevent him from filming the officer misconduct.  

2. After Officer Harold Shoffeitt joined in the detention, both 

officers interrogated and berated Gray before eventually releasing him.  

3. But when Gray sought to return to his advocacy, Lt. Furr banned 

Gray indefinitely from the area, prohibit 

n e d  

m.  

3.  

indefinitely 

 

, 
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8. By preventing Gray from filming portions of their interaction, Lt. 

Furr violated Gra\·V�clearly established First Amendment right to film law 

enforcement activity in public. Smith v. City of Cumming, 212 F.3d 1332, 

1333 (11th Cir. 2000).   

9. When Lt. Furr indefinitely banned Gray from the public 

VLGHZDONV�RXWVLGH�RI�$OSKDUHWWD·V�&LW\�+DOO��without procedural due process, 

he implemented $OSKDUHWWD·V�V\VWHP�RI prior restraints in violation of clearly 

established First and Fourteenth Amendment rights. United States v. 

Frandsen, 212 F.3d 1231, 1236²37 (11th Cir. 2000); Catron v. City of St. 

Petersburg, 658 F.3d 1260, 1267 (11th Cir. 2011). 

10. And in detaining, arresting, and searching Gray without 

reasonable articulable suspicion of a crime, the officers violated Gray·V clearly 

established Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable search 

and seizure. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 9 (1968); Bo uiET
b

Q

sv. Ccable 



 

 4 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

12. This action arises under the First, Fourth, and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and the 

Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201²02. 

13. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims asserted under 

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343. 

14. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) 

because the City of Alpharetta resides in this district and, on information and 

belief, the individual defendants reside in the State of Georgia. 

15. Venue is also proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) 

because the events JLYLQJ�ULVH�WR�3ODLQWLII·V�FODLPV�occurred in Fulton County, 

which is located in the Atlanta Division of the Northern District of Georgia. 

THE PARTIES 

16. Plaintiff Jeffrey Gray is a United States citizen and a resident of 

St. Johns County, Florida. As a veteran of the United States Army, he 

believes in raising awareness of the plight of homeless veterans, protecting 

constitutional rights, and ensuring that law enforcement officers honor their 

oath ´to VXSSRUW�DQG�GHIHQGµ�the United States Constitution. On January 27, 

2022, officers employed by the City of Alpharetta ignored that oath when 

they detained, arrested, and searched Gray for engaging in alleged 
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´SDQKDQGOLQJµ speech, unjustly forced him to identify himself, terminated his 

filming of WKH�RIILFHUV· misconduct, and indefinitely banned him from the 

public sidewalks outside of City Hall. 

17. Defendant City of Alpharetta is a municipal corporation 

organized under the laws of the State of Georgia. Through its police, the City 

of Alpharetta has implemented a policy, practice, or custom of prohibiting 

DQ\�VSHHFK�WKDW�LW�GHHPV�´SDQKDQGOLQJ�µ�Pursuant to this policy, it also 

implements a regime of prior restraint through verbal and written bans³

excluding people, like Gray, from speaking in public spaces without a 

meaningful opportunity to contest the deprivation of their rights. Alpharetta 

police enforced this policy against Gray in violation of his First and 

Fourteenth Amendment rights. 

18. Defendant Arick Furr is a lieutenant employed by the 

Department of Public Safety of the City of Alpharetta. On January 27, 2022, 

Furr confronted Gray for allegedly panhandling outside Alpharetta City Hall, 

and consequently detained and arrested Gray, searched him to obtain his 

identity, turned his camera off to prevent him from further filming the 

encounter, and then banned Gray from sharing his protected message on the 

public sidewalks in front of Alpharetta City Hall. When Lt. Furr detained, 

arrested, searched, DQG�EDQQHG�*UD\�IRU�´SDQKDQGOLQJ�µ�KH�DFWHG�under 
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$OSKDUHWWD·V�DQWL-panhandling policy, LQ�YLRODWLRQ�RI�*UD\·V�)LUVW, Fourth, and 

Fourteenth Amendment rights. At all times relevant to the Complaint, 

Defendant Furr acted under the color of law. He is sued in his individual 

capacity. 

19. Defendant Harold Shoffeitt is a police officer employed by the 

Department of Public Safety of the City of Alpharetta. Officer Shoffeitt 

assisted Lieutenant Furr in detaining Gray under $OSKDUHWWD·V�DQWL-
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23. Gray peacefully stood with his sign for less than five minutes. 

24. Gray did not engage in disorderly conduct. 

25. Gray did not ask any person for money or other charitable 

support while in Alpharetta. 

26. One of the people Gray greeted was Dan Merkel, an Alpharetta 

city councilman. 

27. Before entering City Hall, Councilman Merkel told Gray, ´No 

panhandling up here.µ 

28. Upon entering City Hall, Councilman Merkel approached Lt. 

Furr, who was sitting inside the front corridor. 
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33. Moments later, Gray greeted a woman entering City Hall with 

WKH�SKUDVH�´*RG�EOHVV�KRPHOHVV�YHWV�µ 

34. After entering City Hall, the woman spoke to Lt. Furr gesturing 

outside. 

35. The woman complained to Lt. Furr about Gray·V�VSHHFK�LQ�IURQW�
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41.
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49. Although Gray did not ask anyone for charitable support, when 

Gray asked Lt. Furr why he thought Gray was panhandling, Lt. Furr 

answered that 
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58. /W��)XUU·V�FODLP�WKDW�KH�WXUQHG�WKH�FDPHUD�RII�WR�SUHVHUve its 

battery was a pretext. 

59. Lt. Furr intended to prevent Gray from further recording their 

interaction. 

60. According to the subsequent Alpharetta police disciplinary report 

following an investigation or /W��)XUU·V�actions, Lt. Furr told his supervisor 

WKDW�KH�WXUQHG�RII�*UD\·V�FDPHUD�EHFDXVH�KH�ZDV�IUXVWUDWHG�by Gray. 

61. According to the same written report, Lt. Furr conceded to his 
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66. Shortly after, Officer Shoffeitt joined Lt. Furr in his detention of 

Gray. 

67. Officer Shoffeitt refused WR�OLVWHQ�WR�*UD\·V�H[SODQDWLRQ of the 

events. 

68. Officer Shoffeitt told *UD\�WKDW�´KROGLQJ�D�VLJQ�>DQG@�VWDQGLQJ�

there is panhandling.µ 

69. Officer Shoffeitt repeatedly asked Gray to describe KLV�´JRDO.µ 

70. Lt. Furr WROG�2IILFHU�6KRIIHLWW�WKDW�*UD\·V�JRDO�ZDV�´to cause 

FRQIURQWDWLRQ�µ 
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75. Officer Shoffeitt told Gray, ´<RX·UH�MXVW�FRPLQJ�KHUH�WR�FDXVH�

controvers\�µ�DQG�WKDW�´ZKHQ�\RX�GR�WKDW��MXVW�WR�PDNH�FRQWURYHUV\�RXW�RI�

\RXU�RZQ�ZRUGV��WKDW·V�GLVRUGHUO\�FRQGXFW�µ 

76. Officer Shoffeitt told Gray that Lt. Furr reported ´ZLWQHVVHV�

VD\LQJ�\RX·UH�EHLQJ�FRQWURYHUVLDO�RXW�KHUH�µ 

77. Lt. Furr conducted a second search of *UD\·V�SHUVRQ, removed the 

handcuffs, and walked away, leaving Gray in the custody of Officer Shoffeitt. 

78. Lt. Furr went to his cruiser to contact dispatch and use *UD\·V�

VHL]HG�GULYHU·V�OLFHQVH�to determine whether Gray had any outstanding 

warrants. 

79. Officer Shoffeitt then told Gray that ´DVNLQJ�SHRSOH�IRU�PRQH\��

that fits WKH�SDQKDQGOLQJ�WKDW�WKH\�DVN�\RX�QRW�WR�GR�µ 

80. Gray��DIWHU�H[SODLQLQJ�WKDW�KH�KDG�QRW�DVNHG�´D�Vingle person for 

PRQH\�µ asked Officer Shoffeitt LI�KH�ZDV�´VWLOO�EHLQJ�GHWDLQHG�µ 

81. Officer Shoffeitt responded that KH�ZDV�´QRW�VXUHµ�RI�/W��)XUU·V�

plan. 

82. With his hands now free, Gray turned his camera on so it could 

film the remainder of the interaction. 

83. Lt. Furr returned and told Gray WKDW�´RQH�RI�WKH�FRXQFLOPHQ�DQG�

D�IHPDOH�FDPH�LQ�DQG�VDLG�\RX·UH�DVNLQJ�IRU�PRQH\.µ 
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84. Lt. Furr again told Gray WKDW�\RX�´FDQ·W�SDQKDQGOH�LQ�WKH�City of 

$OSKDUHWWD�µ 

85. After Gray again explained that he was not panhandling, Lt. 

Furr responded WKDW�*UD\�ZDV�´MXVW�WU\LQJ�WR�FDXVH�FRQIURQWDWLRQ�µ 

86. /W��)XUU�FRQFHGHG�WKDW�KH�´GLGQ·W�VHH�[Gray] \HOOLQJ�DW�SHRSOH�µ�

EXW�VDLG�´SHRSOH�DUH�FRPLQJ�LQ��VD\LQJ�[Gray was] \HOOLQJ�DW�WKHP�µ 

87. Gray explained that he had not yelled at anyone, but was just 

VD\LQJ�´JRRG�PRUQLQJ��*RG�EOHVV�the KRPHOHVV�YHWHUDQV�µ 

88. Lt. Furr told Gray that KH�VKRXOG�´WKLQN�DERXW�GHOLYHU\�DQG�KRZ�

SHRSOH�DUH�JRQQD�UHFHLYH�WKDW�PHVVDJH�µ 

89. Gray asked if he was free to leave and Lt. Furr said he was free 

to go. 

90. Gray then DVNHG�/W��)XUU�´Can I continue what I was doing?µ 
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Lt. Furr documents the encounter in a “Criminal Trespass Warning.” 

94. After Lt. Furr detained and indefinitely banned Gray, he 

SUHSDUHG�D�´&5,0,1$/�75(63$66�:$51,1*µ�purporting to document the 

incident. 

95. The trespass warning states that ´WZR�GLIIHUHQW�LQGLYLGXDOVµ�told 

Lt. Furr that Gray was ´SDQKDQGOLQJ�DQG�\HOOLQJ�DW�SHRSOH RXWVLGHµ�DQG�WKDW�

)XUU�WROG�*UD\�WKDW�´SDQKDQGOLQJ�ZDV�QRW�DOORZHG�LQ�$OSKDUHWWD�µ 

96. Lt. Furr wrote that DIWHU�KH�ILUVW�FRQIURQWHG�*UD\��KH�ZDV�´WROG�

DJDLQ�E\�DQRWKHU�FLWL]HQµ³a third witness³who WROG�KLP�´WKHUH�ZDV�D�PDOH�

yelling at people and asking for money.µ 

97. The January 27, 2022, video and audio UHFRUGLQJV�RI�*UD\·V�WLPH�

in front of City Hall before and during the encounter with Lt. Furr confirm 

that Gray did not yell or ask for money. 

98. The video and DXGLR�UHFRUGLQJV�RI�*UD\·V�WLPH�LQ�IURQW�RI�&LW\�

Hall, as well as $OSKDUHWWD·V�RZQ�video recording of Lt. Furr from inside City 

Hall, confirm that Lt. Furr only spoke to two people before detaining Gray. 

99. As the video and audio recordings show, there was no third 

witness who spoke to Lt. Furr.  
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107. About a month later, Gray learned of the written trespass 

warning after an uninvolved person received a copy of it via a public records 

request and forwarded it to him. 

After Gray posts video of the encounter to YouTube, Lt. Furr writes a 

“revised” memo. 

108. On the morning of February 5, 2022, Gray posted a video 

documenting a portion of the January 27, 2022, encounter to YouTube. The 

video, like many others created by Gray showing his positive and negative 

interactions with law enforcement, contrasted $OSKDUHWWD·V�UHVSRQVH�ZLWK�WKH�

positive interaction he had with a law enforcement officer in Roswell, 

Georgia. This video is available at https://bit.ly/JeffGrayRoswell. 

109. On the same day Gray posted the comparison video, members of 

WKH�SXEOLF�EHJDQ�FRQWDFWLQJ�$OSKDUHWWD·V�HOHFWHG�RIILFLDOV, arguing that the 

SROLFH�KDG�YLRODWHG�*UD\·V�)LUVW�$PHQGPHQW�ULJKWV� 

110. On information and belief, Alpharetta Mayor Jim Gilvin viewed 

the video and then sent an email to Alpharetta Police Chief John Robison 

DVVHUWLQJ�WKDW�´LW�ORRNV�OLNH�RQH�RI�RXU�RIILFHUV�PD\�KDYH�DUrested a man for 

VROLFLWLQJ�PRQH\�LQ�IURQW�RI�RXU�FLW\�KDOO�µ 

111. Chief Robison responded by telling Gilvin via email that Lt. Furr 

´KDG�WZR�ZLWQHVVHV�WHOO�KLP�>*UD\@�ZDV�DVNLQJ�IRU�PRQH\�µ 
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112. Chief Robison later emailed Mayor Gilvin asserting that 

´>W@KHUH·V�MXVW�QRWKLQJ�WR�WKLVµ�DQG�WKDW /W��)XUU�´SXW�WKH�JX\�LQ�FXIIV�EHFDXVH�

KH�ZDV�SOD\LQJ�JDPHV�DERXW�EH>LQJ@�LGHQWLILHG�µ 

113. 
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121. On or about March 3, 2022, the Alpharetta Department of Public 

Safety disciplined Lt. Furr following an investigation into his conduct on 

January 27, 2022. 

122. The Alpharetta Department of Public Safety·V�LQYHVWLJDWLRQ�LQWR�

Lt. Furr·V�DFWLRQV concluded that: 

(a) /W��)XUU·V�GHWHQWLRQ�RI�*UD\�ZDV�ZLWKRXW�D�´OHJDO�EDVLVµ and 

´QRW�ZLWKLQ�WKH�VFRSH�RI�WKH�ODZµ; 

(b) Lt. Furr GLG�QRW�WDNH�´LQYHVWLJDWLYH�VWHSV�WR�FRUURERUDWHµ�

Councilman MerkHO·V�DOOHJDWLRQV� 

(c) 7KHUH�ZDV�QR�LQGLFDWLRQ�WKDW�*UD\�ZDV�D�´WKUHDW�WR�

DQ\RQHµ� 

(d) /W��)XUU·V�VHDUFK�RI�*UD\·V�SRFNHW�ZDV�ZLWKRXW�´OHJDO�

MXVWLILFDWLRQµ� 

(e) /W��)XUU·V�WHUPLQDWLRQ�RI�*UD\·V�UHFRUGLQJ�ZDV�ZLWKRXW�

´DSSDUHQW�MXVWLILFDWLRQµ�� 

(f) /W��)XUU·V�´RUGHUµ�WKDW�*UD\�´OHDYH�WKH�DUHDµ�ZDV�ZLWKRXW�

´OHJDO�MXVWLILFDWLRQ�µ�EXW; 

(g) Lt. Furr should have investigated the complaints about 

*UD\�SDQKDQGOLQJ�LQ�RUGHU�WR�SHUIRUP�´JRRG�FXVWRPHU�

VHUYLFH�µ 

123. $OWKRXJK�$OSKDUHWWD·V�'HSDUWPHQW�RI�3XEOLF�6DIHW\�FRQFOXGHG�

that the trespass notice was without a lawful basis, it has not rescinded the 

written notice or /W��)XUU·V�YHUEDO�order indefinitely banning Gray from 

returning to Alpharetta City Hall. 
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124. Gray has relatives who reside in the area north of Atlanta and 

occasionally travels to the area around Alpharetta. Gray has purposefully 

DYRLGHG�HQWHULQJ�$OSKDUHWWD·V�FLW\�OLPLWV�GXH�WR�WKH�GLUHFWLYH�WKDW�KH�QRW�

return, taking different routes to avoid the City of Alpharetta. 

Alpharetta has a policy, practice, or custom of chilling and punishing 

“panhandling” speech.  

125. $OSKDUHWWD·V�SROLFH�GHSDUWPHQW�LPSOHPHQWV�D�SROLF\��SUDFWLFH��RU�

custom of harassing, threatening, detaining, arresting, and/or citing for 

trespass members of the SXEOLF�ZKR�HQJDJH�LQ�´SDQKDQGOLQJµ�VSHHFK³asking 

people for monetary or other charitable support³on public property, despite 

the absence of reasonable suspicion that the individuals violated any law. 

126. 2Q�LQIRUPDWLRQ�DQG�EHOLHI��$OSKDUHWWD·V�anti-panhandling policy 
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128. Among Alpharetta police officers, there is a consistent practice of 

telling people that solicitation or panhandling is unlawful, regardless of the 

location or manner in which they seek assistance. 

129. Among Alpharetta police officers, there is a consistent practice of 

harassing, threatening, detaining, arresting, and/or citing people for trespass 

for engaging in solicitation or panhandling, regardless of the location or 

manner in which they seek assistance. 

130. According to Alpharetta police reports, over 40 Alpharetta police 

officers filed more than 100 reports related to individuals allegedly 

panhandling or soliciting between January 6, 2020, and October 25, 2022. 

131. Many of these UHSRUWV�UHIOHFW�WKH�'HSDUWPHQW·V�SROLF\��SUDFWLFH��RU�

custom of criminalizing speakers who engage in First Amendment protected 

speech, such as asking others for monetary or other support. 

132. For example, on March 1, 2020, Officer Alvizua-)ORUHV�´REVHUYHGµ�

D�PXVLFLDQ�´VHWWLQJ�XS�D�VSHDNHU��JXLWDU��DQG�D�ER[�WR�FROOHFW�PRQH\µ�RXWVLGH�

a store. Officer Alvizua-Flores wrote in a police report that he told the 
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134. 
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145. Pursuant to Alpharetta Department of Public Safety Policy 

No. 03-07, reports approved by a supervisor are then submitted to a 

centralized records system. 

146. Mayor Gilvin knew and knows RI�$OSKDUHWWD·V�DQWL-panhandling 

policy. 

147. Mayor Gilvin has continued to make clear³despite knowing 

DERXW�*UD\·V�DUUHVW�DQG�WKH�VXEVHTXHQW�GLVFLSOLQH�RI�/W��)XUU³that he does 

not want people panhandling in Alpharetta.  

148. At a May 2, 2022 City Council meeting, in discussing a proposal 
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151. The anti-panhandling policy is so well understood among 

Alpharetta officials that the mention of panhandling from Councilman 

0HUNHO�VSXUUHG�LPPHGLDWH�DFWLRQ�IURP�/W��)XUU�WR�FKLOO�*UD\·V�SURWHFWHG�

speech. 

152. $OSKDUHWWD·V�SROLFH�RIILFHUV�FRQWLQXH�WR�HQIRUFH�LWV�DQWL-

SDQKDQGOLQJ�SROLF\�HYHQ�DIWHU�WKH�FLW\·V�VHQLRU�OHDGHUVKLS�EHFDPH�DZDUH�RI�/W��

)XUU·V�unlawful detention and arrest of Gray, and the subsequent discipline 

of Lt. Furr. 

153. On June 15, 2022, Officer Kimbel detained a woman and three 

FKLOGUHQ�EHFDXVH�VKH�KHOG�D�VLJQ�VD\LQJ�VKH�KDG�´��FKLOGUHQ�DQG�QHHG���WR�

KHOS�ZLWK�UHQW�µ�,Q�KLV�UHSRUW��2IILFHU�Kimbel noted that he told the woman 

´QRW�WR�DVN�IRU�PRQH\�DJDLQµ�EHFDXVH�WKH�*HRUJLD�'LYLVLRQ�RI�)DPLO\�DQG�

&KLOGUHQ�6HUYLFHV�ZDV�LQYROYHG�DQG�LW�ZRXOG�EH�´MDLO�IRU�WKHP�LI�WKH\�FRPH�

EDFN�µ 

154. 2Q�2FWREHU�����������2IILFHU�.LPEHO�UHSRUWHG�WKDW�KH�´EOXQWO\�

told [a juvenile] that the next time they are panhandling in Alpharetta they 

ZRXOG�EH�DUUHVWHG�DQG�JR�WR�MDLO�µ 

INJURIES TO PLAINTIFF 

155. The City of Alpharetta and the conduct of its sworn law 

enforcement officers injured Gray³injuries that continue to this day³
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because Alpharetta 
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IXUWKHU�HURGHG�KLV�IDLWK�WKDW�SROLFH�ZLOO�´VXSSRUW�DQG�GHIHQGµ�WKH�8QLWHG�

States Constitution. 

162. 7KH�LQMXULHV�WR�*UD\·V�DELOLW\�WR�VSHDN�in Alpharetta are not left 

in the past³they are ongoing. 

163. Alpharetta police continue to enforce WKH�FLW\·V�DQWL-panhandling 

policy against speech they perceive to be panhandling, and there is a 

substantial risk that Alpharetta officers ZLOO�DJDLQ�LQWHUSUHW�*UD\·V�VSHHFK�WR�

EH�´SDQKDQGOLQJ�µ�FKLOOLQJ�his speech. 

164. In addition, /W��)XUU·V�LQGHILQLWH�ban of Gray burdened and 

FRQWLQXHV�WR�EXUGHQ�*UD\·V�ability to engage in protected speech of any kind 

in Alpharetta, particularly in front of Alpharetta City Hall, and forces him to 

feel as though he cannot travel through or within Alpharetta. 

165.  Gray wants to continue advocating for homeless veterans in 

$OSKDUHWWD��%XW�$OSKDUHWWD·V�continued enforcement of its anti-panhandling 

SROLF\�DQG�LWV�RIILFHUV·�XQODZIXO�GHWHQWLRQ��DUUHVW��DQG�VHDUFK�RI�KLV�SHUVRQ��

caused and continue to cause Gray to fear detention, arrest, invasion of 

privacy, and imprisonment for exercising his First Amendment right to 

engage in such advocacy.  
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172. *UD\·V�YHUEDO�FULWLFLVP�RI�the authority and conduct of Lt. Furr 

and Officer Shoffeitt is protected by the First Amendment. 

173. /W��)XUU�DQG�2IILFHU�6KRIIHLWW·V actions would be sufficient to 

deter a person of ordinary firmness from exercising their First Amendment 

rights. These actions included: 

(a) Physically detaining Gray; 

(b) Placing Gray in handcuffs; 

(c) TerminatinJ�*UD\·V�YLGHR�UHFRUGLQJ� 

(d) Requiring Gray to provide identification; 

(e) Attempting to learn whether Gray could be detained on an 

unrelated warrant; 

(f) Searching Gray; 

(g) Prohibiting Gray from continuing to engage in expressive 

activity; and 

(h) Requiring Gray to leave and not return to the ´GRZQWRZQ�

DUHDµ�around Alpharetta City Hall for at least one year. 

174. Lt. Furr and Officer Shoffeitt falsely asserted that panhandling is 

prohibited by Alpharetta ordinance. 

175. Lt. Furr and Officer 6KRIIHLWW·V�conduct was motivated by their 

REMHFWLRQV�WR�WKH�FRQWHQW�RI�*UD\·V�VLJQ, by KLV�YRFDOL]DWLRQ�RI�WKH�ZRUGV�´*RG�

bless the KRPHOHVV�YHWV�µ�E\�*UD\·V�FULWLFLVP�RI�Lt. Furr, E\�*UD\·V�YHUEDO�
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FKDOOHQJH�WR�/W��)XUU·V�DXWKRULW\��DQG�E\�*UD\·V�DWWHPSW�WR�film /W��)XUU·V 

response to his expressive activity. 

176. As further alleged in paragraphs 280 through 288, infra, Lt. Furr 

and Officer Shoffeitt lacked reasonable suspicion, arguable reasonable 

suspicion, probable cause, or arguable probable cause to detain or arrest 

Gray. 

177. At the conclusion of the RIILFHUV· interaction with Gray, Lt. Furr 

prevented Gray from continuing to engage in expressive activity, curtailing 

and chilling *UD\·V protected speech. 

178. Lt. Furr had no lawful basis to prohibit Gray from continuing to 

engage in expressive activity. 

179. Actions taken by Lt. Furr and Officer Shoffeitt³including 

detaining, arresting, and searching Gray³LQ�UHWDOLDWLRQ�IRU�*UD\·V�H[SUHVVLYH�

activity damaged Gray by depriving him of his well-established constitutional 

right to engage in expressive activity on the public sidewalk outside of City 

Hall, a traditional public forum, entitling Gray to declaratory relief and 

compensatory damages, including at least nominal damages, against Lt. Furr 

and Officer Shoffeitt. 

180. Because the retaliatory actions taken by Lt. Furr and Officer 

6KRIIHLWW�ZHUH�PDOLFLRXV��RSSUHVVLYH��DQG�LQ�UHFNOHVV�GLVUHJDUG�RI�*UD\·V�ZHOO-
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established First Amendment rights, Gray is entitled to punitive damages 

against Lt. Furr and Officer Shoffeitt.  

 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

First Amendment Facial Overbreadth Challenge to the City of 

Alpharetta’s Policy, Practice, or Custom Prohibiting “Panhandling” 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

(Against the City of Alpharetta) 

181. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1²165 and 168²

70 of this Complaint as if repeated here. 

182. It is well settled that a municipality may be subject to Section 

1983 liability for the unconstitutional actions of its employees if (1) the 

SODLQWLII·V�FRQVWLWXWLRQDO�ULJKWV�ZHUH�YLRODWHG����� the municipality has a 

custom or policy that constituted deliberate indifference to that constitutional 

right; and (3) that the policy or custom caused the violation. McDowell v. 

Brown, 392 F.3d 1283, 1289 (11th Cir. 2004) (citing City of Canton v. Harris, 

489 U.S. 378, 388 (1989)). 

183. The City of Alpharetta, through its police department, maintains 

D�SROLF\��SUDFWLFH��RU�FXVWRP�SURKLELWLQJ�´SDQKDQGOLQJµ�DQ\ZKHUH�LQ�

Alpharetta. 

184. Alpharetta police officers have repeatedly instructed members of 

WKH�SXEOLF�WKDW�KROGLQJ�D�VLJQ��´SDQKDQGOLQJ�µ�RU�engaging in other forms of 
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solicitation on public property is prohibited in the City of Alpharetta. See 

supra ¶¶ 128–42, 152²54.  

185. Alpharetta police officers have repeatedly threatened to cite or 

arrest individuals for panhandling in Alpharetta. Id. 

186. These instructions are reflected in numerous reports to superior 

officers, for incidents between January 6, 2020, and October 25, 2022. 

187. 2Q�LQIRUPDWLRQ�DQG�EHOLHI��$OSKDUHWWD·V�'HSDUWPHQW�RI�3XEOLF�

Safety maintains no written policy contradicting or deterring this policy, 

practice, or custom. 

188. It is well established that asking others for charity³whether 

FKDUDFWHUL]HG�DV�RUJDQL]DWLRQDO�VROLFLWDWLRQ�RU�LQGLYLGXDO�´SDQKDQGOLQJµ³is 

expression protected by the First Amendment. City of Fort Lauderdale, 177 

F.3d at 956. 

189. City of Alpharetta policymakers know or should know that 

maintaining a policy, practice, or custom of prohibiting any and all 

´SDQKDQGOLQJµ�ZLWKLQ�FLW\�OLPLWV�YLRODWHs the well-established First 

Amendment right to free expression, but were supportive of or deliberately 

indifferent to the existence and enforcement of the anti-panhandling policy. 
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190. Lt. Furr and Officer Shoffeitt acted pursuant to the City of 
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against Lt. Furr and Officer Shoffeitt.  

 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Facial First Amendment Challenge to the City of Alpharetta’s Policy, 

Practice, or Custom Prohibiting “Panhandling” as a  

Content-Based Limitation on Speech  

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

(Against the City of Alpharetta) 

207. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1²165, 

168²70, and 182²99 of this Complaint as if repeated here. 

208. The First Amendment generally prohibits regulations that target 

speech because of the content or viewpoint expressed. Rosenberger v. Rector 

& Visitors of Univ. of Va., 515 U.S. 819, 829²30 (1995). 

209. $�PXQLFLSDO�JRYHUQPHQW�´KDV�QR�SRZHU�WR�UHVWULFW�H[SUHVVLRQ 

EHFDXVH�RI�LWV�PHVVDJH��LWV�LGHDV��LWV�VXEMHFW�PDWWHU��RU�LWV�FRQWHQW�µ�Reed v. 

Town of Gilbert, 576 U.S. 155, 163 (2015) (quoting Police Dept. of Chicago v. 

Mosley, 408 U.S. 92, 95 (1972)). 

210. Content-EDVHG�UHVWULFWLRQV�RQ�VSHHFK�´DUH�SUHVXPSWLYHO\�

unconstitutional and may be justified only if the government proves that they 

DUH�QDUURZO\�WDLORUHG�WR�VHUYH�FRPSHOOLQJ�VWDWH�LQWHUHVWV�µ�Id. 
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218. Without declaratory and injunctive relief from this Court, 

'HIHQGDQWV·�XQFRnstitutional policy, practice, or custom will continue and 

Gray will continue to suffer irreparable harm. 

219. $V�D�GLUHFW�DQG�SUR[LPDWH�UHVXOW�RI�WKH�&LW\�RI�$OSKDUHWWD·V�SROLF\��

SUDFWLFH��RU�FXVWRP�RI�SURKLELWLQJ�´SDQKDQGOLQJµ�LQ�$OSKDUHWWD��*UD\�KDV�

suffered and continues to suffer irreparable injury, including being deprived 

of his constitutional right to free speech, entitling Gray to declaratory and 

compensatory damages, including at least nominal damages, against the City 

of Alpharetta, and injunctive relief enjoining the City of Alpharetta from 

continuing to enforce its policy, practice, or custom. 

 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

First Amendment Challenge to Lt. Furr’s Interference with Gray’s 

Right to Anonymity and Freedom from Compelled Speech 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

(Against Lt. Furr in his Individual Capacity) 

220. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1²124, 155²65, 

and 167²78 of this Complaint as if repeated here.  

221. The First Amendment protects the right of speakers 

6 5 ,  
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222. The First Amendment also protects the right to refrain from 

speaking, just as it protects the right to speak. Wooley v. Maynard, 430 U.S. 

705, 714 (1977). 

223. Compulsory identification of a speaker requires, at a minimum, 

sufficient cause. Buckley v. Am. Const. Law Found., Inc., 525 U.S. 182, 200 

(1999). 

224. Gray was unlikely to be recognized by any person in Alpharetta. 

225. 2Q�LQIRUPDWLRQ�DQG�EHOLHI��*UD\·V�LGHQWLW\�ZD�㈰〠
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244. In turning the camera lens away and then turning the camera off 

to avoid being filmed, Lt. Furr injured Gray by depriving him of his well-

established constitutional right to film police officers carrying out their 
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City of Saint Petersburg, 658 F.3d 1260, 1267²69 
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261. Lt. Furr did not inform Gray of any process by which he could 

challenge the trespass warning. 

262. The City of $OSKDUHWWD·V�V\VWHP�RI�LVVXLQJ�WUHVSDVV�QRWLFHV�GLG�

not provide an avenue for prompt judicial review of the decision by Lt. Furr to 

bar Gray from a public space. 

263. The verbal trespass warning to Gray did not serve a legitimate 
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Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976) (quoting Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 

545, 552 (1965)). 

271. The trespass warning was issued without pre-deprivation 

opportunity to be heard. 

272. On information and belief, there is no established procedure to be 

heard concerning a trespass warning issued by the Alpharetta Department of 

Public Safety. 

273. 7KH�ULVN�RI�DQ�HUURQHRXV�GHSULYDWLRQ�RI�*UD\·V�LQWHUHVWV�LV�

substantial because Alpharetta police officers may issue warnings without 

any procedure to challenge or rescind the warning. Catron, 658 F.3d at 1267. 

274. The fiscal and administrative burdens attendant with a 

procedure to challenge or rescind the warning are minimal. 

275. The fiscal and administrative burdens attendant with a prior 

restraint, including the availability of prompt judicial review and the 

JRYHUQPHQW·V�EXUGHQ�WR�LQLWLDWH�MXGLFLDO�UHYLHZ��DUH�Pandated by the First 

Amendment. Frandsen, 212 F.3d at 1238. 

276. Gray·V�IXQGDPHQWDO�DQG�SURFHGXUDO�GXH�SURFHVV�ULJKWV have been 

injured by being verbally and formally forbidden, by Lt. Furr, from the public 

sidewalk in front of Alpharetta City Hall. 
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277. In implementing, and applying to Gray, a system of prior 

restraints in the form of verbal and written trespass warnings without a 

meaningful opportunity to be heard, the City of Alpharetta and Lt. Furr 

damaged Gray by depriving him of his Fourteenth Amendment right to due 

process, entitling Gray to declaratory and compensatory damages, including 

at least nominal damages. 

 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of Gray’s Fourth Amendment Rights— 

Unlawful Seizure and False Arrest 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

(Against Lt. Furr and Officer Shoffeitt in their Individual Capacities) 

278. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1²165 and  

167²75 of this Complaint as if repeated here. 

279. Gray had a right under the Fourth Amendment, as incorporated 

against the State of Georgia and its municipalities by the Fourteenth 

Amendment, to be free from unreasonable seizure by Lt. Furr and Officer 

Shoffeitt. Terry v. Ohio
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281. /W��)XUU·V�GHWHQWLRQ�RI�*UD\�ZDV�XQUHDVRQDEOH� 

282. $�VHL]XUH�PXVW�EH�´MXVWLILHG�DW�LWV�LQFHSWLRQ�µ�Terry, 392 U.S. 

at ����$Q�LQYHVWLJDWLYH�VWRS�LV�SHUPLVVLEOH�RQO\�ZKHUH�DQ�RIILFHU�KDV�´DQ�

REMHFWLYHO\�UHDVRQDEOH�VXVSLFLRQµ�WKDW�DQ�LQGLYLGXDO�´KDG�HQJDJHG��RU�ZDV�

DERXW�WR�HQJDJH��LQ�D�FULPH�µ�United States v. Acosta, 363 F.3d 1141, 1145 

(11th Cir. 2004). 

283. $�´UHDVRQDEOH�RIILcer in the same circumstances and possessing 



 

 50 

probable cause existed to arrest Gray. Swint v. City of Wadley, 51 F.3d 988, 

996 (11th Cir. 1995); Alston, 954 F.3d at 1319. 

288. /W��)XUU�DQG�2IILFHU�6KRIIHLWW·V�DUUHVW�RI�*UD\�ZDV�WKHUHIRUH�

without arguable probable cause. 

289. In detaining and arresting Gray without adequate cause, Lt. Furr 

and Officer Shoffeitt damaged Gray by depriving him of his well-established 

Fourth Amendment right to be free of unreasonable seizure, entitling Gray to 

declaratory relief and compensatory damages, including at least nominal 

damages. 

290. BecausH�/W��)XUU�DQG�2IILFHU�6KRIIHLWW·V�VHL]XUH�RI�*UD\�ZDV�

PDOLFLRXV��RSSUHVVLYH��DQG�LQ�UHFNOHVV�GLVUHJDUG�RI�*UD\·V�ZHOO-established 

Fourth Amendment rights, Gray is entitled to punitive damages against Lt. 

Furr and Officer Shoffeitt. 

 

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of Gray’s Fourth Amendment Rights— 

Unlawful Search  

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

(Against Lt. Furr in his Individual Capacity) 

291. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1²165 and  

167²75, and 279²88 of this Complaint as if repeated here. 
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292. Gray had a right under the Fourth Amendment, as incorporated 
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